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The Division of Enforcement (“Division”) hereby moves for summary disposition 

of this matter. There are no disputed issues and this matter may be disposed of in a 

summary manner. 

Background 

This administrative proceeding was instituted on September 16, 2016. The Order 

Instituting Proceeding (“OIP”) noted that respondent Sears had submitted an offer of 

settlement which the Securities and Exchange Commission (“Commission”) had 

determined to accept. Accordingly, the Commission made certain findings and ordered 

respondent Sears to cease and desist from committing or causing any violations and any 

future violations of Sections 5(a), 5(c), 17(a) and (3) of the Securities Act of 1933 

(“Securities Act”) and Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange 

Act”) and Rules 10b-5(a) and 10b-5(c) thereunder, banned him from participating in any 

offering of a penny stock, including acting as a promoter, finder, consultant, agent or 

other person who engages in activities with a broker, dealer or issuer for purposes of the 

issuance or trading in any penny stock, or inducing or attempting to induce the purchase 
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or sale of any penny stock, and prohibited him from acting as an officer or director of any 

issuer that has a class of securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act or 

that is required to file reports pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act. OIP §§ III, V. 

The OIP also found that respondent Sears agreed to additional proceedings to determine 

what, if any, disgorgement pursuant to Section 8A(e) of the Securities Act and Section 

21C(e) of the Exchange Act and/or civil penalties pursuant to Section 8A(g) of the 

Securities Act and Section 21B(a) of the Exchange Act against him are in the public 

interest. OIP § IV.  In connection with such additional proceedings respondent Sears 

agreed that (a) he will be precluded from arguing that he did not violate the federal 

securities laws described in the OIP; (b) he may not challenge the validity of the OIP; (c) 

the findings of the OIP shall be accepted as and deemed true by the hearing officer; and 

(d) the hearing officer may determine the issues raised in the additional proceedings on 

the basis of affidavits, declarations, excerpts of sworn deposition or investigative 

testimony, and documentary evidence. Id. 

Motion for Summary Disposition 

The Division now moves for determination of what disgorgement and penalties, if 

any, are in the public interest.  

A motion for summary disposition under Commission Rule of Practice 250 is 

generally proper in “follow-on” proceedings like this one, where the administrative 

proceeding is based on a criminal conviction or civil injunction, because relitigation of “the 

factual findings or the legal conclusions” of the underlying proceeding is precluded. Gary 

M. Kornman, Rel. No. 34-59403, 2009 WL 367635, at *10-11 (Feb. 13, 2009). Moreover, 

under Commission precedent, the circumstances in which summary disposition in a follow-

on proceeding involving fraud is not appropriate “will be rare.” See John S. Brownson, Rel. 
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No. 34-46161, 2002 WL 1438186, at *2 (July 3, 2002), petition for review denied, 66 F. 

App’x 687 (9th Cir. 2003). The Commission has repeatedly upheld use of summary 

disposition in cases where the respondent has been enjoined or convicted and the sole 

determination concerns the appropriate sanction. See Jeffrey L. Gibson, Rel. No. 34-57266, 

2008 WL 294717 (Feb. 4, 2008) (collecting cases). And courts have upheld the 

Commission’s application of summary disposition in follow-on proceedings like this one. 

See, e.g., Gary M. Kornman, 592 F.3d 173 (D.C. Cir. 2010); Jeffrey L. Gibson, 561 F.3d 

548 (6th Cir. 2009).  

The relevant facts supporting the Division’s Motion are established and explained 

by public records – the OIP, Sears’ plea agreement, and the criminal judgment against 

Sears. Pursuant to Rule 323 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice, the Commission may 

take official notice of these public records. See 17 C.F.R. §201.323. Respondent is 

collaterally estopped from contesting these public records. See Roe v. City of Waterbury, 

542 F.3d 31, 41 (2d Cir. 2008); see also Gary M Kornman, Rel. No. 34-59403 at 12, 2009 

WL 367635 (Feb. 13, 2009) (criminal conviction based on guilty plea precludes litigation 

of issues in Commission proceedings), aff’d, 592 F.3d 173 (D.C. Cir. 2010). Respondent 

is also precluded from contesting the allegations of the OIP by the terms of his settlement. 

OIP § IV.   

I. Statement of Material Facts As To Which There Is No Issue 

From approximately April 2011 to May 2014 (the “relevant period”), Fusion 
Pharm, Inc. (“FSPM”), through its chief executive officer, president and sole director 
Scott M. Dittman, and its undisclosed de facto officer and control person William J. 
Sears, engaged in an approximately $12.2 million fraudulent scheme in violation of the 
registration and antifraud provisions of the federal securities laws. The scheme essentially 
involved four steps. First, utilizing backdated convertible notes and preferred FSPM 
stock, FSPM issued common stock to Microcap, Bayside and Meadpoint, all entities 
controlled by Sears. Second, Sears, through these entities, sold the FSPM stock into the 
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market. Third, Sears transferred over $1 million of the proceeds from the illegal stock 
sales back to FSPM, where the money was fraudulently recognized and reported as 
revenue. Fourth, FSPM issued press releases and financial reports claiming the false 
revenues, and failed to disclose Sears’ identity, role, and background in FSPM’s quarterly 
and annual reports posted on the OTC Markets Group, Inc.’s website. OIP § III.   

A. Stipulated Facts from the OIP* 

1. During the relevant period, Sears was a founder, de facto executive officer 
and undisclosed control person of FSPM. In 2007, Sears was convicted (via guilty plea) 
of one count of conspiracy to commit securities fraud and commercial bribery and one 
count of securities fraud. United States v. Sears, Case No. 04-cr-556-swk (S.D.N.Y.). 
OIP § III, ¶ 1. 

2. Microcap Management LLC (“Microcap”) is a Nevada limited liability 
company with its primary business address listed as Sears’ home address in Thornton, 
Colorado. Sears controls Microcap and is listed as the Manager with the Nevada 
Secretary of State. OIP § III, ¶ 2. 

3. Bayside Realty Holdings LLC (“Bayside”) is a Nevada limited liability 
company with its primary business address listed as the home address of Sears’ mother in 
New Bern, North Carolina. During the relevant period, Sears controlled Bayside. OIP 
§ III, ¶ 3. 

4. Meadpoint Venture Partners, LLC (“Meadpoint”) is a Nevada limited 
liability company that shared a primary business address with FSPM’s prior warehouse in 
Denver, Colorado. Meadpoint was purportedly FSPM’s exclusive distributor of 
PharmPods during the relevant period. From 2011 through 2013, Sears represented 
himself as the “Managing Member’’ of Meadpoint. Dittman was a shareholder and 
Internal Revenue Service Form 1099 employee of Meadpoint. OIP § III, ¶ 4. 

5. Fusion Pharm, Inc. (“FSPM”) is a Nevada corporation with its principal 
offices in Denver, Colorado. The company is focused on the development, production 
and sales of the “patent pending PharmPods cultivation container system,” which are 
refurbished shipping containers used primarily to grow cannabis. FSPM has never 
registered an offering of securities under the Securities Act or a class of securities under 
the Exchange Act. Beginning on April 4, 2011, the company’s stock was quoted on OTC 
Link (previously “Pink Sheets”) operated by OTC Markets Group, Inc. (“OTC Link”) 
under the symbol FSPM. Following the Commission’s 10-business day trading 
suspension in May 2014, FSPM is currently listed as a Caveat Emptor/Grey Market OTC 
stock. OIP § III, ¶ 5. 

                                                 
* Sears is estopped from contesting the findings of the OIP. See Waterbury, 542 F.3d at 
41; Gary M Kornman, Rel. No. 34-59403 at 12; OIP § IV.   
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6. During the relevant period, Scott M. Dittman was a founder, FSPM’s 
CEO, president, and sole director. Dittman signed and certified FSPM’s unaudited 
quarterly and annual financial statements posted on the OTC website. OIP § III, ¶ 6. 

7. In late 2010, Dittman and Sears took over an existing public company, 
changing its name to FSPM in March 2011. Dittman was listed as the CEO of the 
company, but Sears acted as an undisclosed executive officer. Among other things, Sears 
worked at FSPM from its inception, appeared on non-public company documents as an 
officer, drew a paycheck, and handled many day-to-day responsibilities usually reserved 
for a company officer. Although FSPM was ostensibly in the business of selling 
PharmPods, it had almost no revenue to fund its operations. Instead, from 2011 through 
2013, FSPM was funded almost entirely through illegal sales of FSPM stock. OIP § III, 
¶ 7. 

8. Initially, FSPM was funded through the sale of stock that Sears received in 
the name of Microcap, both from FSPM’s predecessor entity and as part of the transition 
to FSPM. In order to make Sears’ sales of FSPM stock appear legitimate, and as part of 
the fraudulent scheme, Sears and Dittman made it falsely appear that Sears, through 
Bayside and Meadpoint, had loaned money to FSPM. Once Sears and Dittman had 
exhausted these funds, however, Sears then converted the fake “debt” owed to Bayside 
and Meadpoint to unrestricted FSPM shares, which Bayside and Meadpoint then illegally 
sold into the market. OIP § III, ¶ 8. 

9. As part of the fraudulent scheme, Sears and Dittman funneled 
approximately $1.3 million from the illegal FSPM stock sales back into FSPM. In tum, 
FSPM falsely claimed the stock sale proceeds as revenue from sales of PharmPods, 
thereby increasing FSPM’s stock price and volume and making the fraud even more 
profitable. As part of the scheme, Sears and Dittman hid Sears’ role in FSPM so as to 
claim falsely that Sears’ entities were not affiliates of FSPM (which they were), thus 
facilitating Sears’ illegal sales of unrestricted FSPM stock. They also failed to disclose 
FSPM’s purported transactions with Sears’ entities as related party transactions, which 
they were based on Sears’ role in FSPM. OIP § III, ¶ 9. 

10. In 2009, Microcap received common shares from FSPM’s predecessor 
company for stock promotion work. In 2010, Microcap received preferred shares as part 
of the transfer of the predecessor company to Sears and Dittman. In 2011, Microcap 
purchased FSPM common shares from an individual FSPM shareholder. OIP § III, ¶ 10. 

11. In June 2012, Sears and Dittman prepared fraudulent non-convertible 
promissory notes and credit lines between FSPM and Bayside and between FSPM and 
Meadpoint. The Bayside non-convertible note and credit line agreement, with a credit 
limit of $275,000, was backdated to May 2, 2011. The Meadpoint non-convertible 
promissory note and credit line agreement, with a credit limit of $200,000, was backdated 
to June 15, 2011. OIP § III, ¶ 11. 

12. In November/December 2012, the Bayside and Meadpoint notes were re-
drafted as fraudulent convertible notes. The notes were changed from non-convertible to 
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convertible in order to obtain more unrestricted FSPM stock to sell illegally into the 
market and to investors, and in turn to fund FSPM. Without changing the notes to 
convertible notes, FSPM would not have been able to issue purportedly unrestricted 
shares to Sears’ entities. The Bayside note, backdated to May 2, 2011, was a 10% 
Convertible Promissory Note and Line of Credit Agreement in the amount of $275,000, 
with a conversion rate of $0.01/share. The Meadpoint convertible note, this time 
backdated to December 8, 2011, was a 10% Convertible Promissory Note in the amount 
of $88,000, with a conversion rate of $0.01/share. OIP § III, ¶ 12. 

13. From approximately April 28, 2011 through May 8, 2014, Sears, through 
his entities Microcap, Bayside, and Meadpoint, illegally sold over $12.2 million of 
restricted FSPM stock. OIP § III, ¶ 13. 

14. Between approximately April 2011 and December 2012, Microcap sold 
approximately 735,000 shares of unregistered FSPM stock. Microcap’s sale of these 
unregistered shares was based on false statements to brokers and to FSPM’s stock 
transfer agent that Sears had no role at or control of FSPM, and therefore that Microcap 
was not an affiliate of FSPM. Almost all of the funds flowing into FSPM’s bank account 
in 2011 and 2012, either directly from Microcap or funneled first through Bayside, 
Meadpoint, or another Sears entity, are traced back to Microcap’s stock sales. OIP § III, 
¶ 14. 

15. Between approximately February 2013 and April 2013, pursuant to the 
Bayside convertible note, Bayside converted debt into 140,000 FSPM common shares 
and sold them into the market. In order to facilitate the sales, Sears and Dittman made 
false statements to brokers and the transfer agent about Bayside’s purported non-affiliate 
status. In addition to the consequences the fraudulent Bayside convertible promissory 
note had on Bayside’s ability to receive unrestricted shares, Bayside’s true affiliate status 
also meant that Bayside needed to abide by certain volume restrictions, which it failed to 
do. Bayside sold the remainder of its note to an investment group for $250,000 and, based 
on more false statements from Dittman and Sears, the investors sold shares prior to the 
expiration of the one-year holding period required by Securities Act Rule 144 [17 C.F.R. 
§ 230.144]. Bayside’s proceeds from its FSPM stock sales, as well as the payment from 
the investors, were ultimately funneled to FSPM using Meadpoint as an intermediary. 
FSPM used proceeds from the Bayside sales of stock and debt to fund its 2013 
operations. OIP § III, ¶ 15. 

16. Between approximately March 2013 and April 2014, pursuant to the 
Meadpoint convertible note, Meadpoint converted $42,450 of debt into 4.245 million 
FSPM common shares, and then sold into the market approximately 3.2 million of those 
shares. In order to facilitate the sales, Sears and Dittman made false statements to brokers 
and the transfer agent about Meadpoint’s purported non-affiliate status. In August 2013, 
Meadpoint also converted $15,000 of fake debt into 1.5 million shares and then sold them 
to three investors. The investors received unrestricted shares on the basis of, again, 
Dittman’s and Sears’ false representations of Meadpoint’s non-affiliate status. In 2013, 
Meadpoint’s stock sale proceeds and payments from the investors funded FSPM 
operations. In 2014, Meadpoint’s proceeds from its note with FSPM were $9.9 million. 
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While some of this amount was transferred to FSPM, the majority, $8.7 million, was 
seized by criminal authorities in May 2014. OIP § III, ¶ 16. 

17. While Dittman and Sears were facilitating the transfer of unrestricted 
FSPM shares to Sears through his entities, Sears illegally sold those shares into the 
market and round-tripped some of the proceeds back to FSPM. FSPM, through Dittman 
and Sears, reported false revenues and made false statements about sales of PharmPods in 
press releases, which in turn maintained and/or increased FSPM’s stock price and 
volume, and allowed Sears to sell his FSPM stock into the market. The false financial 
statements and revenue reported by FSPM were included in: (1) FSPM’s 2011 annual 
report (including its financial statements and notes to the financial statements), signed by 
Dittman and posted on the OTC Markets Group Inc.’s website; (2) FSPM’s 2012 annual 
report, signed by Dittman and posted on the OTC website; and (3) FSPM’s 2013 annual 
report, signed by Dittman and posted on the OTC website. OIP § III, ¶ 17. 

18. FSPM also claimed to have sold PharmPods to certain Sears entities, 
including to Meadpoint and another Sears entity, but failed to disclose these transactions, 
as well as the Bayside and Meadpoint notes, as related party transactions. FSPM’s 
Information and Disclosure Statement for the period ended September 30, 2011, and its 
2011 and 2012 annual reports, all signed by Dittman and posted on the OTC website, 
falsely stated there were no related party transactions. Further, none of FSPM’s other 
quarterly reports or its 2013 annual report posted on the OTC website disclosed related 
party transactions. OIP § III, ¶ 18. 

19. As a result of the conduct described above, Respondent willfully violated 
Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act. Section 5(a) of the Securities Act prohibits 
the direct or indirect sale of securities through the mail or interstate commerce unless a 
registration statement is in effect. Section 5(c) prohibits the direct or indirect offer for 
sale of securities through the mail or interstate commerce unless a registration statement 
has been filed. OIP § III, ¶ 19. 

20. As a result of the conduct described above, Respondent willfully violated 
Sections 17(a) of the Securities Act and Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-
5 thereunder. Section 17(a) of the Securities Act and Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act 
and Rule 10b-5 thereunder prohibit fraudulent conduct in the offer or sale of securities 
and in connection with the purchase or sale of securities. OIP § III, ¶ 20. 

21. As a result of the conduct described above, Respondent willfully aided and 
abetted and caused FSPM’s violations of Sections 5(a), 5(c) and 17(a) of the Securities 
Act and Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 thereunder. OIP § III, ¶ 21. 

22. Respondent entered into a written agreement to plead guilty to criminal 
conduct relating to the findings in the Order. Specifically, in United States v. William 
Sears and Scott Matthew Dittman, 16-CR-301-WJM (D. Colo.), Respondent agreed to 
plead guilty to conspiracy [18 U.S.C. § 371] to commit violations of Section 5(a) of the 
Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77e(a)], violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 
U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 thereunder [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5], wire fraud [18 
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U.S.C. § 1343], and mail fraud [18 U.S.C. § 1341]. Respondent also agreed to plead 
guilty to filing a false federal individual income tax return for calendar year 2011 [26 
U.S.C. § 7206(1)]. OIP § III, ¶ 22. 

B. Stipulated Facts from the Plea Agreement† 

23. Sears had previously been primarily involved in the business of providing 
public relations and promotional services to microcap companies that sought to have their 
stocks publicly traded in various non-exchange, over-the-counter markets. In 2007, Sears 
was convicted in the Southern District of New York of one count of conspiring to commit 
securities fraud and commercial bribery and one count of securities fraud (Case No. 04-cr-
556-swk). Thereafter, Sears primarily conducted his stock public relations and promotional 
business through Microcap, a Nevada limited liability company that he formed. He also 
conducted some of his business affairs through a second Nevada limited liability company, 
Bayside, which he formed and operated in the name of a blood relative family member. 
Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 1. 

24. Dittman had been trained and practiced as an accountant from 1991 until 
1995, when he quit working as an accountant and went into real estate development and 
construction. He became a Certified Public Accountant in 1991. His license with the State 
of California expired in April 1997. Dittman and Sears are brothers-in-law; Sears is married 
to Dittman’s sister. Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 2. 

25. In or about 2010, Dittman conceived of a business to develop, manufacture 
and sell steel shipping containers refurbished for use as use as hydroponic growing 
PharmPods for indoor plant cultivation, primarily cannabis. He undertook to collaborate 
with the Sears to develop this business and, in particular, enlisted Sears to assist in 
promoting the business, marketing its products and finding investment capital for it. The 
business was conducted through FSPM, a company organized in the State of Nevada with 
its principal place of business at first in Denver, Colorado and later in Commerce City, 
Colorado. Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 3. 

26. Shortly after the formation of FSPM, Sears undertook efforts to make it a 
company whose stock was publicly traded. In November 2010, in furtherance of these 
efforts, Sears and the CEO for a company named Baby Bee Bright Corporation began 
discussions about Sears and Dittman taking over Baby Bee Bright. The purpose of the 
takeover was for Dittman and Sears to transform Baby Bee Bright, a company whose stock 
was already quoted on OTC Link, operated by OTC Markets Group, Inc., into Fusion 
Pharm. On November 8, 2010, Baby Bee Bright’s CEO and Sears exchanged emails about 
the Baby Bee Bright CEO transferring his convertible preferred shares in Baby Bee Bright 
to Sears and Dittman. The owner of the preferred shares could convert the shares to 
common stock at a rate of 100 common stock shares for every preferred share. Sears and 
the Baby Bee Bright CEO ultimately agreed that Dittman and Sears would receive 99% of 

                                                 
† The Plea Agreement is attached as Exhibit A. Sears is estopped from contesting the 
factual stipulations of the Plea Agreement. See Waterbury, 542 F.3d at 41; Gary M. 
Kornman, Rel. No. 34-59403 at 12. 
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the company’s convertible preferred shares at no cost while the Baby Bee Bright CEO 
retained 1% as his compensation for the transaction. On November 15, 2010, Baby Bee 
Bright’s shareholders executed a written consent acknowledging, among other things: (a) 
the resignation of Baby Bee Bright’s CEO; and (b) the appointment of Dittman and, at 
Sears’ direction, Sears’ family member as directors. Sears’ family member was appointed 
to act as director, in part to avoid disclosure of Sears’ involvement and his prior conviction 
for securities fraud. At the time, the common stock of Baby Bee Blight, like the common 
stock of many publicly traded rnicrocap companies, was not traded on a registered national 
securities exchange but rather directly between two parties, typically securities broker-
dealers, using inter-dealer quotation services offered through internet platforms such as 
OTC Link. Dittman and Sears’ acquisition of these pre-existing shares through the reverse 
merger with Baby Bee Bright was not the product of wrongdoing. Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 4. 

27. Prior to November, 2010, Dittman had been aware that Sears had a prior 
felony conviction and had at various times used his family member’s name on various 
accounts and for various entities in which Sears was involved. Sears and Dittman discussed 
Sears’ prior felony conviction with a transactional and securities lawyer  and were advised 
by that lawyer that Sears’ felony conviction would have to be disclosed to the market if 
Sears was given an officer or director title in the company and, over the course of time, 
they were further advised that Sears’ formal involvement with FSPM would need to be 
circumscribed in various ways to avoid running afoul of the federal securities laws or 
triggering disclosure obligations under the federal securities laws. Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 5. 

28. On January 25, 2011, as part of the plan to turn over control of Baby Bee 
Bright to Sears and Dittman, the Baby Bee Bright CEO transferred 1.3 million of the 
existing 1.5 million Baby Bee Bright preferred shares to a single person LLC owned and 
controlled by Dittman. On March 16, 2011, the Baby Bee Bright CEO then transferred 
185,000 Baby Bee Bright preferred shares to Microcap, an entity controlled by Sears. As 
arranged with Sears, the Baby Bee Bright CEO retained 15,000 preferred shares as his 
compensation for the transaction. Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 6. 

29. On March 25, 2011, Dittman and Sears filed a notification of name change 
with the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”) to change Baby Bee Bright’s 
name and stock symbol to FSPM’s name and stock symbol. After FINRA approved this 
form, all Baby Bee Bright shares were converted to FSPM shares. The FINRA notification 
form was signed by Dittman in his capacity as President of FSPM and identified Sears the 
Administrative Officer.” Sears’ family member was listed as treasurer and secretary of 
former Baby Bee Bright and the newly formed FSPM. Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 7. 

30. Around this time, Sears and Dittman enlisted the services of an erstwhile 
associate of Sears to assist in preparing materials for FSPM. Dittman and Sears requested 
that Sears’ associate prepare, among other things, Fusion Pharm business plans including 
financial projections for the company. For example, on March 10, 2011, Sears emailed his 
associate and cc’d Dittman, asking him to ‘‘please start communicating with regard to 
putting a business/plan/powerpoint/offering documents together.” About a month later, on 
April 5, 2011, Dittman emailed Sears’ associate with specific financial projections to assist 
in the preparation of FSPM’s business plan. The projections included PharmPod sales 
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estimates for the company for the upcoming fiscal years that forecasted the number of pods 
that were expected to be sold in each these years, as follows with the translated 
corresponding sales revenue figures at an average price of $32,500 per pod: (a) Fiscal Year 
(‘‘FY”) 2011: 30 pods ($975,000); (b) FY 2012: 60 pods ($1,950,000); and (c) FY 2013: 
100 pods ($3,250,000). Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 8. 

31. Dittman and Sears operated FSPM as business partners, and held 
themselves out as such to numerous individuals and investors. On April 21, 2011, Dittman 
sent an email to numerous individuals notifying them that he “recently partnered with 
[Sears] and [we] have acquired and moved [our] operations into a publicly traded company: 
Fusion Pharm.” Dittman would identify Sears as his ‘‘partner” in FSPM to numerous 
individuals through in-person communications and emails. In short, during the Relevant 
Period, Sears and Dittman worked in tandem regarding the critical decisions concerning 
FSPM’s management and operations, and Sears was primarily responsible for FSPM’s 
capital formation and investor relations. Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 9. 

32. Following the conversion of shares and name change to FSPM, Dittman and 
Sears, initially with the assistance of Sears’ associate, undertook to regularly post certain 
prescribed written disclosure for FSPM on the OTC Link internet platform. These 
submissions typically included financial statements, together with financial statement 
notes, and quarterly and annual reports, which reports included information, among other 
things, about the officers, directors, and control persons and significant beneficial owners 
of the company’s stock. Throughout the Relevant Period, no mention was made in any of 
FSPM’s financial statements, notes, or quarterly and annual reports, that Sears or any of the 
entities through which he conducted business was an affiliate of, or related party to FSPM. 
Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 10. 

33. Even though Sears was never identified in FSPM’s financial and other 
disclosures as having a formal role with the company, he was integral to the company’s 
operations. As FSPM began its actual operations in the spring of 2011, Sears was identified 
in some of FSPM’s documents as being an officer of the company; he was alternatively 
classified as the company’s “Vice President” “Director of Financial Operations” and/or 
“Investor Relations Director” in other documents. Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 11. 

34. In addition to being identified on initial company documents as an officer, 
from the time of FSPM’s organization as a company in Spring 2011 until late 2013 (when 
FSPM hired a contractor to serve as part-time Chief Financial Officer), Sears handled many 
day-to-day responsibilities typically reserved in other companies for a chief financial 
officer. For example, Sears: (a) managed incoming investor checks and paperwork; (b) 
served as FSPM’s primary contact with the company’s transfer agent in connection with 
FSPM common stock transactions; (c) provided company funds to FSPM employees; (d) 
signed payroll checks for FSPM employees from FSPM account(s) for six months when 
Dittman did not have access to FSPM’s bank accounts; (e) made pitches to a number of 
investors on FSPM’s behalf; (f) at times drafted, revised, and posted FSPM press releases; 
and (g) drafted certain FSPM corporate documents, such as written board of director 
consent for Sears and others to convert their preferred FSPM shares for sale. Sears also had 
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and used a FSPM email address and, from at least November 2011 to January 2012 and 
received a salary during that same time from FSPM. Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 12. 

35. Federal securities laws require that every offer or sale of a security by a 
company such as FSPM needs to be registered with the Commission or exempt from 
registration. FSPM was not registered with the Commission. Accordingly, throughout the 
Relevant Period, any lawful issuance of securities, including convertible notes, preferred 
and common stock, would have needed to be exempt from registration. Further, any of 
these exempt offerings would have required that the shares associated with the issuance be 
“restricted,” or limited in the manner and amount in which they could be sold after 
issuance. For example, restricted securities would have needed to be held by the owner for 
a certain amount of time (the “holding period”) before they could be freely transferrable to 
a third party. Additionally, shares held by individuals or entities that could direct or control 
the direction of a company’s management or policies - classified as “affiliates” - were 
subject to additional regulations under federal securities laws, such as limitations on how 
many shares they can sell during a given time period. Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 13. 

36. Dittman and Sears knew that unrestricted or “free trading” shares of FSPM 
shares could be sold into the market or be used as negotiating tools. Unrestricted shares 
would be more marketable to investors as they could immediately sell the shares without 
having to satisfy any holding period. As such, Sears used the preferred shares acquired by 
Microcap to fund FSPM’s operations and to financially support themselves. Because Sears 
was a de facto affiliate throughout the Relevant Period, sales of his preferred shares were 
accomplished while avoiding registration with the Commission and in violation of the 
otherwise applicable restriction requirement on newly issued shares. Plea Agreement § V, 
¶ 14. 

37. The unlawful securities transactions were realized in stages. Sears initially 
converted 1,450 preferred shares to 145,000 free-trading shares of FSPM common stock on 
April 15, 2011. He then caused Microcap to transfer the remaining preferred shares 
(183,550 preferred shares) to a company owned by an immediate family member, although 
Sears continued to beneficially own the stock. Thus, Sears was able to avoid being 
disclosed in Fusion Pharm’s financial disclosure documents as a 10% shareholder of the 
company’s preferred stock, and an affiliate of FSPM based on his stock ownership. After 
using his family member’s company to convert small tranches of FSPM preferred shares to 
common stock, Sears caused the remaining 178,760 preferred shares to be transferred to 
another family member on July 29, 2011. Similarly, Sears then used that family member as 
a proxy for his stock ownership, instructing him to transfer as needed small tranches of 
preferred shares to Microcap (or other entities controlled by Sears), which Sears, in turn, 
caused to be converted into common stock and sold into the market. Dittman knew about 
this arrangement. Sears did this in order to conceal his true share ownership, as he 
continued to beneficially own these shares throughout the Relevant Period. Plea Agreement 
§ V, ¶ 15. 

38. All told, between April 28, 2011 and December 10, 2012, Sears, in 
consultation with Dittman, converted 14,270 of the 185,000 preferred shares into 1,427,000 
shares of FSPM common stock. Sears sold 675,000 shares of these shares into the 
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secondary market through Microcap, netting approximately $1.6 million in proceeds. Sears 
and Dittman agreed that Sears would use some of the remaining 752,000 FSPM common 
stock shares as part of their efforts to raise funds for the company’s operations and to 
finance construction of pods. Some investors were told that such shares would be 
unrestricted and thus could be immediately traded. Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 16. 

39. Since FSPM’s transfer agent was the gatekeeper responsible for 
determining whether shares would be restricted, Microcap’s sale of these unregistered 
shares was based on false statements by Dittman and Sears about Sears’ affiliate status with 
FSPM. For example, Dittman signed and submitted a FSPM Officer’s Certificate attesting 
to, among other things, that Sears and, derivatively, Microcap, were not affiliates of FSPM. 
Similarly, Sears submitted documents on Microcap’s behalf to the transfer agent that 
claimed he had no power to direct or cause the direction of FSPM’s operations, even 
though Sears handled many responsibilities typically reserved in other companies for an 
officer or director. Sears and Dittman did not accurately describe Sears’ role with FSPM in 
their efforts to have the transfer agent remove the restricted legend on the stock certificates 
in order to be able to sell the shares as free trading. Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 17. 

40. Dittman also misrepresented facts about Sears’ stock ownership and 
transactions to FINRA. In October 2011, FINRA investigated Microcap’s significant sales 
of FSPM stock. During that investigation, Dittman represented to FINRA that Sears was 
only a “part time salesman” at FSPM and that Dittman was unaware that Sears owned any 
FSPM stock and, therefore, was unaware he was selling FSPM stock.  In a later interview, 
on November 3, 2011, Dittman indicated to FINRA staff that Sears “no longer owns 
Microcap Management” and that Sears owned no “Fusion Pharm stock.” But only weeks 
earlier, on September 6, 2011 and September 13, 2011, Dittman and Sears emailed each 
other details about Microcap’s trading. On one occasion, Dittman even requested that Sears 
transfer $3,000 from “this week’s take” (in reference to Microcap’s trading) to another 
family member’s account. Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 18. 

41. Dittman and Sears used a series of entities owned by Sears to increase their 
access to FSPM stock. Two of these entities, Microcap and Bayside, were, as discussed 
above, entities that Sears had previously used in connection with earlier business affairs. 
Two additional entities, VertiFresh, LLC (“VertiFresh”) and Meadpoint, formed in 
connection with efforts to sell FSPM’s PharmPods and license its business methods and 
technology, were employed as well, in part to secure additional FSPM stock. (The four 
entities are collectively referred to as the “Facilitating Entities”.) Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 19. 

42. In addition to Sears’ control over these entities, the Facilitating Entities 
shared other connections to FSPM. Among other things, Meadpoint’s and VertiFresh’s 
principal places of business were 4360 Vine Street in Denver, CO - the same address as 
FSPM for most of the Relevant Period. VertiFresh and Meadpoint also shared the same 
workspace and employees with FSPM. And the Facilitating Entities paid over $40,000 for 
shipping containers (the raw materials for PharmPods) that went to FSPM. Plea Agreement 
§ V, ¶ 20. 
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43. Dittman was also affiliated with, and acted on behalf of, VertiFresh and 
Meadpoint. Regarding VertiFresh, materials sent to potential VertiFresh investors 
identified Dittman as a Director of the company. Dittman edited and reviewed these 
materials before they were sent to potential investors. Dittman also made a presentation on 
VertiFresh’s behalf with Sears to the Denver Office of Economic Development JumpStart 
BizPlan Awards contest in 2012. The PowerPoint presentation Dittman and Sears used at 
the presentation identified Dittman as VertiFresh’s Director. Moreover, some company 
organization documents reflected that Dittman was the CEO and Chairman of Board for 
VF Management, Inc., VertiFresh’s sole managing member. Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 21. 

44. Regarding Meadpoint, an unsigned version of the company’s shareholder 
agreement identified Dittman as a 50% owner of the company. Dittman also received tens 
of thousands of dollars in purported compensation as a 1099 employee of the company, and 
drafted and issued investor materials on Meadpoint’s behalf. Dittman later identified 
himself on an application to the Colorado Medical Marijuana Enforcement Division as a 
“consultant” to Meadpoint. At no point did FSPM disclose to investors that Dittman had 
any affiliations with VertiFresh or Meadpoint. Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 22. 

45. As a named officer of Fusion Pharm, Dittman’s ownership share and 
transactions in FSPM stock were disclosed on FSPM’s financial disclosures filed on, and 
made available to investors via, OTC Link. However, by selling FSPM shares through 
Microcap, Bayside, VertiFresh, and Meadpoint, Dittman’s, along with Sears’, involvement 
and interest in those stock transactions remained undisclosed to investors. Plea Agreement 
§ V, ¶ 23. 

46. Sears’ associate prepared two separate notes in June 2012 (one for Bayside 
and one for Meadpoint) for non-convertible lines of credit. On June 4, 2012, he emailed 
Sears a draft Bayside non-convertible promissory note and credit line agreement, writing 
that he would also draft drawdown requests to match the dates and amounts of previously 
made deposits into Fusion Pharm’s accounts. Between June 5, 2012 and June 6, 2012, 
Sears’ associate drafted six drawdown requests totaling $177,000 and sent the requests to 
Sears. The final non-convertible note and credit line agreement (“Bayside Non-Convertible 
Note”) was then signed on June 6, 2012 with a purported $275,000 line of credit. However, 
the Bayside Non-Convertible Note signatures (Dittman on behalf of Fusion Pharm and 
Sears’ family member on behalf of Bayside, acting as Sears’ surrogate) were backdated to 
May 2, 2011. Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 24. 

47. To justify the “drawdowns,” Sears attached deposit slips for nine previous 
bank deposits totaling approximately $171,000. In reality, all but one of the various 
deposits listed as purported drawdowns actually came from Microcap, and the funds are 
traceable to Microcap sales of FSPM stock. Dittman signed these drawdown requests on 
June 6, 2012; the dates on the requests, however, were earlier in time and matched when 
funds actually had been disbursed to FSPM. Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 25. 

48. Following a similar pattern, on June 19, 2012, Sears’ associate emailed 
Sears a draft of the Meadpoint non-convertible promissory note and credit line agreement 
for signature, with a credit limit of $200,000 (‘‘Meadpoint Non-Convertible Note”). As 
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with the Bayside NonConvertible Note, Dittman signed the Meadpoint Non-Convertible 
Note on or about June 19, 2012, when the Note bore a date of June 15, 2011. Sears signed 
on Meadpoint’s behalf and also backdated his signature. FSPM attached deposit slips for 
$88,000 of deposits, although again the money actually came from Microcap stock sales. 
Once again, Dittman signed drawdown requests that bore earlier dates to match the dates 
on which funds actually had been disbursed to Fusion Pharm. Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 26. 

49. Five months later, on November 26, 2012, Sears’ associate emailed Sears 
new drafts of the Bayside and Meadpoint notes now documented as convertible notes, 
writing “[t]he Notes work with the existing drawdown requests.” (the “Meadpoint 
Convertible Note” and “Bayside Convertible Note” respectively). The Bayside Convertible 
Note, signed by Dittman on FSPM’s behalf on or about November 26, 2012, but bearing a 
date of May 2, 2011, was a 10% Convertible Promissory Note and Line of Credit 
Agreement in the amount of $275,000 with a conversion rate of $0.01/share. Similarly, the 
Meadpoint Convertible Note was also signed by Dittman on FSPM’s behalf on or about 
November 26, 2012 but bore a date of June 15, 2011, and was a 10% Convertible 
Promissory Note in the amount of $275,000 with a conversion rate of $0.0l/share. Plea 
Agreement § V, ¶ 27. 

50. The notes were changed because Sears wanted to sell the notes to potential 
buyers whom he bad identified. By changing the non-convertible notes to convertible ones, 
Sears and Dittman could present the notes to FSPM’s transfer agent for conversion of the 
debt into FSPM common stock. Additionally, by fraudulently backdating the notes, 
Dittman and Sears were able to mislead the transfer agent into believing that: (1) all debt 
obligations reflected in the backdated notes were intended to be convertible at the time that 
Fusion Pharm incurred the debts; (2) the debt obligations always had been convertible; (3) 
the backdated notes constituted contemporaneously created written evidence of the debt 
obligations reflected therein; and ( 4) consequently that the holding period required by the 
federal securities laws had been satisfied. Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 28. 

51. After Dittman signed the backdated Bayside Convertible Note, Sears 
immediately converted the debt into FSPM shares. On December 6, 2012, Bayside 
submitted a Notice of Conversion to FSPM to convert $1,400 of the debt into 140,000 
FSPM common shares. The package that Sears submitted to the transfer agent contained 
several false documents, including: (1) the backdated Bayside convertible note and 
drawdown requests/deposit detailed above; (2) a letter from Bayside attesting that Bayside 
was not an affiliate (signed by Sears’ family member); (3) a separate Statement of Non-
Affiliate from Bayside (signed again by Sears’ family member); and (4) a FSPM Officer’s 
Certificate, Written Consent, and letter signed by Dittman stating that Bayside (and 
derivatively Sears) were not affiliates and that the Bayside Convertible Note was a valid 
obligation of the company as opposed to round-tripped stock sale proceeds. Plea 
Agreement § V, ¶ 29. 

52. Contrary to these representations, Bayside was an affiliate of Fusion Pharm. 
In addition to the impact the Bayside Convertible Note had on Sears’ ability to receive 
unrestricted shares, Sears’ affiliate status also meant that Bayside needed to abide by the 
volume restrictions mandated by federal securities laws. Specifically, Bayside could not 
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sell more than 1% of the FSPM’s common stock shares during a three month period. 
Between February and April 2013, FSPM had, at most, 5,201,650 common stock shares 
outstanding, meaning Bayside could only sell 52,016 shares during this period and still 
comply with the federal securities laws. However, Sears sold all 140,000 of Bayside’s 
shares during this period, thus violating the volume restrictions. Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 30. 

53. On February 5, 2013, Sears sold the remainder of the Bayside Convertible 
Note to an investment group. Sears received $250,000 from the investment group in 
consideration for the remaining debt that FSPM purportedly owed Bayside under the 
backdated note. In order to ensure that the five investors in the investment group 
immediately received unrestricted shares, Dittman and Sears again made false 
representations to the transfer agent as to Bayside’s affiliate status. Plea Agreement § V, 
¶ 31. 

54. Once Sears sold the remainder of the Bayside debt, Sears and Dittman 
turned to utilizing the Meadpoint Convertible Note. Between March 2013 and April 2014, 
Sears, though Meadpoint, converted $42,450 of purported debt into 4.245 million FSPM 
common shares. Sears, with Dittman’s knowledge, sold approximately 3.2 million of those 
shares in the market. Meadpoint still holds the remainder of those shares. Plea Agreement 
§  V, ¶ 32. 

55. The Meadpoint conversions were documented similarly to the Bayside 
conversion. The packages that Sears submitted to the transfer agent included similar false 
documents, including: (1) the backdated Meadpoint Convertible Note and deposit details 
listed above; (2) a letter from Meadpoint attesting that it was not an affiliate (signed by 
Sears); (3) a separate Statement of Non-Affiliate from Meadpoint (signed by Sears); ( 4) a 
FSPM Officer’s certificate, Written Consent, and letter (all signed by Dittman) stating that 
Meadpoint (and derivatively Sears) were not affiliates and that the Meadpoint Convertible 
Note was a valid obligation of the company. As with the Bayside converted shares, the 
backdated nature of the Meadpoint Convertible Note misled the transfer agent into 
believing the holding period had been satisfied as to all debt obligations reflected in the 
Note. Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 33. 

56. FSPM’s transfer agent emailed Dittman in February 2014 in response to one 
of the Meadpoint conversion requests. The transfer agent employee wrote that he had 
concerns about the conversion because Sears requested the conversion on Meadpoint’s 
behalf, and the transfer agent had Sears listed as an Administrative Officer of FSPM 
Dittman falsely responded to the transfer agent that Sears had never been employed by 
FSPM (when, in truth and in fact, he had been employed directly by FSPM) and was not an 
affiliate. Meadpoint was, however, an affiliate of Fusion Pharm. Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 34. 

57. As with the Bayside Convertible Note, Sears and Dittman also used the 
Meadpoint Convertible Note to obtain cash from outside investors. Rather than selling 
debt, however, Sears converted $15,000 of debt under the Meadpoint Convertible Note into 
1.5 million shares of FSPM common stock. Sears, with some assistance from Dittman, then 
sold the 1.5 million shares to three investors in August 2013 for $184,831. These three 
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investors received unrestricted shares based on Dittman’s and Sears’ false representations 
to Fusion Pharm’s transfer agent. Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 35. 

58. Meadpoint received $273,210 in proceeds from the sale of stock derived 
from the Meadpoint Convertible Note, and an additional $184,831 from the three investors 
detailed above, for a total of $458,041. This amount constituted the primary source of the 
funds that Meadpoint transferred to Fusion Pharm that year-again reflecting that stock sale 
proceeds were used by Meadpoint finance the construction of pods in 2013. Plea 
Agreement § V, ¶ 36. 

59. In 2014, after the passage of Amendment 64 in Colorado, legalizing 
recreational usage of marijuana, Fusion Pharm’s share price and trading volume spiked. 
From January through May, 2014, Meadpoint received $9.9 million in proceeds from the 
sale of stock derived from the Meadpoint Convertible Note. While some of this amount 
was transferred to FSPM in 2014, the majority - approximately $8.7 million - was seized by 
the government in May 2014. Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 37. 

60. In total, from approximately April 28, 2011 through May 8, 2014, Sears, in 
consultation with Dittman, sold more than 4 million shares of FSPM stock through the 
Facilitating Entities and acquired more than $12.2 million in stock sale proceeds: $2.2 
million prior to the passage of Amendment 64; $9.9 million in the months immediately 
following the passage of Amendment 64. Sears transferred the overwhelming majority of 
these funds (more than $8.4 million) to a brokerage account he controlled in the name of a 
family member. Although the proceeds were held in an account controlled by Sears, 
Dittman and Sears treated these proceeds as theirs collectively. For example, on September 
6, 2011, Dittman asked Sears in an email, “what do we have in microcap now?” In 
addition, on May 15, 2014, Dittman sent an email to a contact in the real estate industry 
specifically referencing the funds held in the brokerage account, writing “We have proof of 
funds for upward approx. $8 million today (liquid) and have access to more. We would like 
to write contracts on as many properties as is possible/feasible/reasonable ...” Plea 
Agreement § V, ¶ 38. 

61. Sears and Dittman also used significant portions of the stock sale proceeds 
for their own personal benefit. For example: (a) $688,000 was used to purchase Dittman’s 
home in Pennsylvania; (b) Sears paid off his home in Denver and a condo in Westminster, 
CO; ( c) Sears purchased expensive watches; and (d) Dittman and Sears used $250,000 as a 
down payment on a Denver warehouse as part of another planned business venture. Plea 
Agreement § V, ¶ 39. 

62. In addition to the funds Dittman and Sears used for their own personal 
benefit, they also round-tripped over a million dollars of stock sale proceeds back to FSPM, 
most of which was booked as company revenue, and the rest as loans. In this manner, 
Dittman and Sears consistently transferred a portion of a given week’s trading proceeds to 
FSPM. On certain occasions, they even used a formulaic breakdown for the proceeds. For 
example, on July 2, 2012, Sears emailed Dittman with specific figures from the prior 
week’s trading whereby after deducting certain funds for commissions to stock promoters 
and Sears’ cut, the net was to be sent to FSPM. Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 40. 
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63.  Dittman and Sears used the stock sale proceeds transferred to FSPM to 
sustain Fusion Pharm’s business. Much of the funds were portrayed as involving 
transactions with Meadpoint and VertiFresh. As their business operations got underway, 
Dittman and Sears had agreed to form entities to act as intermediaries with respect to 
FSPM’s ultimate customers, one entity devoted to customers whose intended use of the 
PharmPods was in connection with the cannabis cultivation and the other with respect to a 
business devoted to using the PharmPods for growing non-cannabis produce (primarily, 
lettuce). Meadpoint was formed for the former purpose and as FSPM’s ‘exclusive 
distributor’ of PharmPods. VertiFresh was formed for the latter purpose and, as Dittman 
and Sears started growing lettuce in PharmPods that they kept at FSPM’s business 
premises, they began to market sale of this produce to local restaurants and retailers under 
the name ‘VertiFresh.” As indicated above, the affairs and operation of all three entities - 
FSPM, Meadpoint and VertiFresh - were comingled and all three entities were jointly 
operated, as a matter of fact, by Sears and Dittman in concert. Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 41. 

64. As they sought to develop their business and find and sell PharmPods to 
cannabis growers and lettuce to ultimate customers, Sears and Dittman undertook to use the 
FSPM stock sales proceeds being generated by Sears through the various Facilitating 
Entities as a basis to claim revenues for FSPM. Dittman booked money being received by 
FSPM from the stock sales proceeds as FSPM revenue and the two, together, used 
Meadpoint and/or VertiFresh to construct revenue generating transactions prior to the 
actual sale and distribution of the PharmPods to the end-users. Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 42. 

65. FSPM’s financial disclosures were made available to investors via OTC 
Link. FSPM’s Annual Information and Disclosure Statement, financial statements, and 
notes to the financial statements for the period ended December 31, 2011, signed by 
Dittman (“FSPM’s 2011 Annual Report”), was posted on OTC Link on March 31, 2012. 
Dittman was primarily responsible for preparing FSPM’s 2011 Annual Report, although he 
consulted with other individuals regarding the content, including Sears. Plea Agreement § 
V, ¶ 43. 

66. In the FSPM 2011 Annual Report, FSPM claimed $256,895 in revenue for 
the fiscal year. FSPM’s accounting records reflected $226,895 in “licensing revenue” from 
Meadpoint in 2011, purportedly related to Meadpoint’s role as FSPM’s exclusive 
distributor of cannabis PharmPods. However, FSPM’s accounting records, bank accounts 
and general ledger reveal that the overwhelming majority of funds that went into FSPM’s 
bank accounts in 2011 came from Microcap stock sales. Dittman caused FSPM to book the 
majority of the stock sale proceeds from Microcap as revenue months in advance of 
securing signed contracts from actual PharmPod customers by Meadpoint. The remainder 
of these transfers served as the purported basis for the Meadpoint and Bayside Convertible 
Notes. Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 44. 

67. At no point in FSPM’s 2011 Annual Report did FSPM disclose Sears’ role 
with both Meadpoint and FSPM, or Dittman’s affiliation with Meadpoint. Additionally, 
contrary to its representations, FSPM failed to identify its transactions with Meadpoint or 
Sears as: (a) material transactions with any director or executive officer (even though Sears 
satisfied this by his de facto role as an officer of FSPM); (b) transactions by any person 
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beneficially owning shares carrying more than 5% of voting rights (which Sears did via his 
preferred share ownership); or (c) transactions with any member of the immediate family 
(including in-laws) of any director or executive officer (which Sears satisfied as Dittman’s 
brother-in-law). Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 45. 

68. FSPM’s Annual Information and Disclosure Statement, financial 
statements, and notes to the financial statements for the period ended December 31, 2012, 
signed by Dittman (“FSPM’s 2012 Annual Report”), were posted on OTC Link on March 
6, 2013. Likewise, the payment and delivery of these PharmPods did not occur until 2012. 
According to FSPM’s 2011 Annual Report, FSPM “records revenue when all of the 
following have occurred: (1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, (2) product 
delivery has occurred, (3) the sales price to the customer is fixed or determinable, and (4) 
collectability is reasonably assured.” Dittman contends that the sale on which revenue was 
recognized for 2011 was to Meadpoint. In 2011, the Government contends that none of 
these requirements were met with respect to the transaction at issue. Dittman contends that 
as the sale on which revenue was recognized in 2011 was to Meadpoint, all of these 
requirements were met, while conceding that disclosures concerning related party 
transactions that may have been required as to this transaction under GAAP given 
Meadpoint’s de facto status may not have been met. Dittman was primarily responsible for 
preparing Fusion Pharm’s 2012 Annual Report, although he consulted with other 
individuals regarding the content, including Sears. Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 46. 

69. In its 2012 Annual Report, FSPM claimed $808,398 in revenue. Fusion 
Pharm stated that $750,000 of this revenue resulted from a license agreement with 
VertiFresh. As detailed above, Sears and Dittman owned and/or controlled both entities (a 
fact never disclosed to investors), meaning the transaction was essentially one party 
transacting with itself. During the Relevant Period, VertiFresh only generated nominal 
revenue from lettuce sales. Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 47. 

70. More than a year after the filing, FSPM voluntarily restated its 2012 
financial statements and represented that $500,000 of the $750,000 revenue related to the 
VertiFresh license agreement should not have been recognized. FSPM maintained, 
however, that the other $250,000 was legitimate revenue. This was also materially 
overstated. Even if VertiFresh was a separate entity and even if it received anything of 
value in connection with the agreement, VertiFresh transferred only $147,475 into FSPM’s 
bank account in 2012, not $250,000.00 as it agreed to do in 2012. As in 2011, all of these 
funds can be traced directly back to Microcap’s stock sale proceeds. Once again, FSPM 
booked proceeds from FSPM stock sales by Facilitating Entities as FSPM revenue. Plea 
Agreement § V, ¶ 48. 

71. The 2012 Annual Report went on to claim that Meadpoint and VertiFresh 
had committed to placing orders for more than $3 million worth of PharmPods over the 
next three years. Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 49. 

72. FSPM’s Annual Information and Disclosure Statement, financial 
statements, and notes to the financial statements for the period ended December 31, 2013, 
signed by Dittman (“FSPM’s 2013 Annual Report”), were posted on OTC Link on April 
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15, 2014. Dittman was primarily responsible for preparing FSPM’s 2013 Annual Report, 
although he consulted with other individuals regarding the content, including Sears. Plea 
Agreement § V, ¶ 50. 

73. FSPM claimed $594,397 in revenue for 2013. As they did in 2011 and 
2012, Sears and Dittman used significant portions of stock sale proceeds to fund revenue 
transactions between FSPM and Facilitating Entities. For example, between February 6, 
2013 and February 8, 2013, Sears transferred $235,000 from Bayside bank accounts to 
Meadpoint, all of which were provided by investors in connection with the sale of the 
Bayside note. During the same time period, Meadpoint transferred at least $170,000 of 
these funds to FSPM. According to FSPM’s general ledger, these transfers were booked as 
revenues. Sears and Dittman did something similar with stock sale proceeds funneled 
through a company they both owned. According to FSPM’s general ledger, at least $50,000 
in March 2013 checks from this company were also booked as revenues. Plea Agreement 
§V, ¶ 51. 

74. Dittman and Sears also transformed investments from direct investors 
directly into purported FSPM revenue by passing the money through accounts in the name 
of the Facilitating Entities. For example, on August 5, 2013, Dittman sent a potential 
investor an email with a proposed investment deal. Dittman offered the investor an 
opportunity to purchase $50,000 worth of preferred shares in FSPM and purchase $50,000 
of Meadpoint’s Convertible Note. With regard to the proposed purchase of the Meadpoint 
Convertible Note, Dittman claimed that “Meadpoint would use its $50,000 to purchase the 
2 containers referenced above ... “ meaning that investor’s funds would flow through 
Meadpoint to be booked as revenues by FSPM. Dittman summarized the proposed 
$100,000 investment by claiming “[t]hus, all funds would end up in FSPM, $50,000 as an 
investment and $50,000 as sales revenue for the 2 containers.” The investor ultimately 
invested $100,000 and, as proposed, $50,000 of this investment was used for two 
PharmPods that were placed in FSPM’s sales center and booked as part of FSPM’s revenue 
for 2013. Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 52. 

75. Furthermore, Dittman reiterated the misrepresentation set forth in the 2012 
Annual Report that Meadpoint and VertiFresh were independent entities that promised to 
purchase dozens of PharmPods in the future. For example, on February 18, 2013, Dittman 
drafted an email for Sears’ associate to send to prospective investors that stated, among 
other things: (a) Meadpoint is FSPM’s exclusive distributor with minimum purchase 
requirements of 50 PharmPods/year; and (b) VertiFresh is a Denver licensee that paid 
$250,000 in 2012 for a license and 4 PharmPods, and was expected to purchase another 6 
PharmPods in 2013. However, Dittman did not disclose the relationships that he and Sears 
had with and in Meadpoint and VertiFresh in that email. Sears’ associate ultimately sent the 
email to prospective investors. Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 53. 

76. The foregoing matters became the focus of a federal criminal investigation 
in the District of Colorado that, in turn, arose from a referral in December 2013 from the 
Commission’s Regional Office in Denver, Colorado, after the agency received a complaint 
from a former FSPM worker, alleging that Fusion Pharm was engaged in fraud. The agency 
commenced its own civil investigation. Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 54. 
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77. Following the referral, from on or about March 28, 2014 through on or 
about July 18, 2014, the FBI conducted an undercover operation as part of the investigation 
into FSPM. During this time, Dittman met with an undercover FBI agent posing as a 
potential FSPM investor on four separate occasions. Sears also met with the undercover 
agent on one occasion. Over the course of these undercover encounters, Sears and Dittman 
variously acknowledged Sears’ control of Meadpoint and VertiFresh. Sears also candidly 
discussed his involvement in FSPM, at one point remarking to the FBI undercover agent 
that, when it came to FSPM, he was the “hand up Mona Lisa’s skirt.” In a final meeting 
with the FBI undercover agent, Dittman at one point acknowledged that Sears could not be 
in the company (FSPM) because of his prior felony conviction in New York. Plea 
Agreement § V, ¶ 55. 

78. As a result of its preliminary investigative findings, the Commission 
suspended trading in FSPM’s stock on May 16, 2014. The same day, the FBI and IRS-CID 
executed a federal search warrant on FSPM’s principal place of business. The FBI seized 
24 items of evidence including six computers and one tablet. The FBI also executed seizure 
warrants on four bank accounts and one brokerage account containing proceeds from the 
sale of Fusion Pharm stock. Plea Agreement § V, ¶ 56. 

C. Facts from the Amended Order of Forfeiture and Criminal Judgment‡ 

79. Sears obtained $10,810,916.90 in FSPM stock sales proceeds, personally, 
or through accounts he controlled. Order at p. 2. 

80. $6,463,049.42 of seized assets were forfeited to the United States. Order at 
p. 2; Judgment at p. 7 

81. $2,433,818.00 of seized assets were remitted in restitution to the Internal 
Revenue Service. Order at p. 3; Judgment at p. 6. 

82. Sears was sentenced to 96 months of imprisonment. Judgement at p. 2. 

D. Other facts not at issue§ 

83. Sears is approximately 57 years old. He is currently incarcerated at 
Florence FCI in Florence, Colorado. At the time of the relevant conduct he was a resident 
of Thornton, Colorado. 

84. Sears filed a timely notice of appeal of the criminal judgment against 
him.** 

                                                 
‡ The Amended Order of Forfeiture is attached as Exhibit B and the Criminal Judgment is 
attached as Exhibit C. Sears is estopped from contesting the judicial findings of this 
Order and Judgment. See Waterbury, 542 F.3d at 41; Gary M Kornman, Rel. No. 34-
59403 at 12. 
 
§ These facts may not be material. They are, however, informative. 
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II. Disgorgement is Appropriate 

Advisers Act Section 203(j) and (k)(5), Exchange Act Sections 21B(e) and 21C(e), 

and Investment Company Act Section 9(e) authorize disgorgement in this proceeding. 15 

U.S.C. §§ 78u-2(e), 78u-3(e), 80a-9(e), 80b-3(j), (k)(5). To establish the appropriate 

amount of disgorgement, the Division need show only “a reasonable approximation of 

profits causally connected to the violation” in question. First City Fin., 890 F.2d at 1231; 

see also Montford & Co. v. SEC, 793 F.3d 76, 83-84 (D.C. Cir. 2015). Once the Division 

makes the required showing, the burden shifts to the respondent to show that the 

disgorgement figure was not a reasonable approximation. SEC v. Calvo, 378 F.3d 1211, 

1217 (11th Cir. 2004).  

The Federal District Court Judge entering judgment against Sears found that he 

wrongfully obtained $10,810,916.90 in FSPM stock sales proceeds, personally or through 

accounts he controlled. Sears had the opportunity to litigate the issue of how much he 

obtained in ill-gotten gains in the criminal prosecution against him. Relitigation of that 

finding is precluded by Commission precedent. Gary M. Kornman, Rel. No. 34-59403, 

2009 WL 367635, at *10-11 (Feb. 13, 2009). Thus, $10,810,916.90 is “a reasonable 

approximation of profits causally connected to the violation” and Sears should be ordered 

to disgorge that amount. Sears has been ordered to forfeit or pay that amount in the 

criminal judgment. Payment of disgorgement in this matter should be deemed satisfied by 

forfeiture and payment of the money judgment in the criminal case. 

                                                                                                                                                 
** Under Commission precedent, the pending appeal is not a valid reason for delaying the 
resolution of this matter. See Joseph P. Galluzzi, 55 S.E.C. 1110, 1116 n.21 (2002); Jon 
Edelman, 52 S.E.C. 789, 790 (1996). Further, the pending appeal does not impact the 
collateral effect of the District Court’s order. See Blinder, Robinson & Co. v. SEC, 837 
F.2d 1099, 1104 n 6 (D.C. Cir. 1988).  

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=15USCAS78U-2&originatingDoc=If8ea862b751a11eaaf56e82bee30e016&refType=RB&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_7fdd00001ca15
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=15USCAS78U-2&originatingDoc=If8ea862b751a11eaaf56e82bee30e016&refType=RB&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_7fdd00001ca15
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=15USCAS78U-3&originatingDoc=If8ea862b751a11eaaf56e82bee30e016&refType=RB&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_7fdd00001ca15
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=15USCAS80B-3&originatingDoc=If8ea862b751a11eaaf56e82bee30e016&refType=RB&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_267600008f864
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=15USCAS80B-3&originatingDoc=If8ea862b751a11eaaf56e82bee30e016&refType=RB&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_267500003f9c4
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2036674261&pubNum=0000506&originatingDoc=If8ea862b751a11eaaf56e82bee30e016&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_506_83&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_506_83
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III. A Penalty is Appropriate 

Exchange Act Section 21B(a)(2) and Advisers Act Section 203(i)(1)(B) authorize 

civil penalties in cease-and-desist proceedings against a respondent who has violated a 

provision of those acts or a rule promulgated under them. 15 U.S.C. §§ 78u-2(a)(2), 80b-

3(i)(1)(B). Investment Company Act Section 9(d)(1)(A) and Advisers Act Section 

203(i)(1)(A) authorize civil penalties against a respondent who has willfully violated a 

provision of the Advisers Act or Exchange Act, or a rule promulgated under them, if a 

penalty is in the public interest. 15 U.S.C. §§ 80a-9(d)(1)(A), 80b-3(i)(1)(A). 

In determining whether civil penalties are in the public interest, the Commission 

considers (1) whether the violation involved fraud, deceit, manipulation, or deliberate or 

reckless disregard of a regulatory requirement; (2) the harm to others; (3) any unjust 

enrichment; (4) the respondent's history of securities-law violations or criminal offenses; 

(5) the need for deterrence; and (6) such other matters as justice requires. See Thomas C. 

Gonnella, Rel. No. 34-10119, 2016 WL 4233837, at *14 & n.70 (Aug. 10, 2016), pet. 

denied, No. 16-3433 (2d Cir. Apr. 2, 2020). 

The maximum civil penalty that may be imposed is based on the culpability of the 

respondent and the relevant statutes set out a three-tiered system for determining the 

maximum monetary penalty for each act or omission constituting a violation. 15 U.S.C. 

§§ 78u-2(b), 80a-9(d)(2), 80b-3(i)(2). First-tier penalties are available based on the fact 

of the violation alone. 15 U.S.C. §§ 78u-2(b)(1), 80a-9(d)(2)(A), 80b-3(i)(2)(A). Second-

tier penalties are permitted if a respondent’s misconduct involved fraud, deceit, 

manipulation, or deliberate or reckless disregard of a regulatory requirement. 15 U.S.C. 

§§ 78u-2(b)(2), 80a-9(d)(2)(B), 80b-3(i)(2)(B). Third-tier penalties require the additional 

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=15USCAS80B-3&originatingDoc=If8ea862b751a11eaaf56e82bee30e016&refType=RB&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_40730000ffe37
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=15USCAS80B-3&originatingDoc=If8ea862b751a11eaaf56e82bee30e016&refType=RB&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_40730000ffe37
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=15USCAS80A-9&originatingDoc=If8ea862b751a11eaaf56e82bee30e016&refType=RB&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_a7830000870a0
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=15USCAS80B-3&originatingDoc=If8ea862b751a11eaaf56e82bee30e016&refType=RB&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_ec3a0000f1a25
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=15USCAS80A-9&originatingDoc=If8ea862b751a11eaaf56e82bee30e016&refType=RB&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_4be3000003be5
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=15USCAS80B-3&originatingDoc=If8ea862b751a11eaaf56e82bee30e016&refType=RB&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_f2fd000080d26
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=15USCAS80A-9&originatingDoc=If8ea862b751a11eaaf56e82bee30e016&refType=RB&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_ffce0000bc442
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=15USCAS80B-3&originatingDoc=If8ea862b751a11eaaf56e82bee30e016&refType=RB&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_bd4d0000c19d4
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=15USCAS80A-9&originatingDoc=If8ea862b751a11eaaf56e82bee30e016&refType=RB&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_d3750000bbb45
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=15USCAS80B-3&originatingDoc=If8ea862b751a11eaaf56e82bee30e016&refType=RB&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_b3080000918c4


 
 

23 

finding that the misconduct, directly or indirectly, resulted in either “substantial losses or 

created a significant risk of substantial losses to other persons” or “substantial pecuniary 

gain to the person who committed the act or omission.” 15 U.S.C. §§ 78u-2(b)(3), 80a-

9(d)(2)(C), 80b-3(i)(2)(C).  

In his settlement Sears agreed not to contest the fact that he had committed the 

alleged violations. The OIP and Plea Agreement establish that Sears’ violations involved 

fraud, deceit, and manipulation. Furthermore, by entering into a plea agreement he 

admitted that he committed those violations willfully. A federal district court found that 

Sears’ violations resulted in a substantial pecuniary gain – over $10 million. This unjust 

enrichment caused a corresponding harm to investors who bought the worthless Fusion 

Pharm stock. Finally, Sears is a recidivist securities law violator. Consideration of these 

factors demonstrate that a third tier penalty against Sears is appropriate and the Division 

asks that this Court make that finding. Based on Sears’ sentence for 96 months of 

incarceration, however, no civil penalty, or a penalty of $0, should be imposed against 

him. 

Conclusion 

The Division of Enforcement respectfully requests that this Court resolve this 

matter consistent with the facts and argument set forth above. 

Dated: May 22, 2020 

      

 

 

 

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=15USCAS80B-3&originatingDoc=If8ea862b751a11eaaf56e82bee30e016&refType=RB&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_70820000ba381
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Respectfully submitted, 

 

Stephen C. McKenna 
Polly Atkinson 
Kim Greer 
Division of Enforcement 
Securities and Exchange Commission 
Denver Regional Office 
1961 Stout Street, Ste. 1700 
Denver, CO  80294 
(303) 844-1000 
mckennas@sec.gov 
atkinsonp@sec.gov 
greerk@sec.gov 
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Washington, D.C. 20549 
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Hon. Judge James E. Grimes 
100 F Street, N.E.  
Mail Stop 2557 
Washington, D.C. 20549 
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William J. Sears  
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO 

 
Criminal Case No. 16-cr-301-WJM  
 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 
 

 Plaintiff, 
 
v. 
 
1.  WILLIAM J. SEARS, 
 
  Defendant. 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 

AMENDED PRELIMINARY ORDER OF FORFEITURE  
______________________________________________________________________ 
 

THIS MATTER comes before the Court on the United States= Motion for 

Amended Preliminary Order of Forfeiture pursuant to Rule 32.2 of the Federal Rules of 

Criminal Procedure.  The Court having read said Motion and being fully advised in the 

premises finds: 

On November 14, 2016, Defendant William J. Sears was charged by Information 

in Count One with conspiracy to defraud the United States and one of its agencies, 

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371; and with willfully making a false declaration under the 

penalty of perjury, in violation of 26 U.S.C. § 7206(1).  (Doc. 43).  The Information also 

sought forfeiture against defendant Sears, pursuant to 18 USC § 981(a)(1)(C) and 28 

U.S.C. § 2461(c), of numerous assets, including a money judgment, that constituted or 

derived from gross proceeds traceable to the commission of the offense charged in 

Count One of the Information or property traceable to such property. (Doc.  43).  

On November 14, 2016, the United States and Defendant William Sears entered 
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into a Plea Agreement, which provides a factual basis and cause to issue a forfeiture 

order and issue a personal money judgment under 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C) and 28 

U.S.C. § 2461(c) and Rule 32.2 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure.  (Doc. 56). 

Defendant William Sears obtained $10,810,916.90 of the 12,204,172.00 in 

FusionPharm, Inc. stock sales proceeds, personally, or through accounts he controlled.   

 The requisite nexus exists between the conspiracy to defraud offense to which 

Defendant William Sears pleaded guilty, and the following directly traceable assets: 

1) $27,066.23 in United States currency seized from Wells Fargo 
Bank Account No. 6020559917, held in the name of Meadpoint 
Venture Partners; 

 
2) $9,455.56 in United States currency seized from Wells Fargo 

Bank Account No.  held in the name of Sandra L. 
Sears; 

 
3) $6,028,803.25 in United States currency seized from Moors and 

Cabot Trust Account No.  held in the name of 
Sandra Lee Sears, Tr. Sandra Lee Sears Ttee; and 

  
4) $250,000 in United States currency held in lieu of earnest 

money held on deposit for the purchase of , 
Denver, Colorado. 

 
Defendant William Sears has an interest in the following substitute assets, which 

are subject to forfeiture: 

a. $147,724.38 realized from the sale of , 
Thornton, Colorado, ; and 

 
b. Any monetary value he realizes in the future from his interest 

in FusionPharm, Inc. 
 

Prior to the disposition of the assets, the United States, or its designated sub-

custodian, is required to seize the forfeited property and provide notice to any third 
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parties pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 853(n). 

On January 30, 2020, the Court ordered Defendant William J. Sears to pay 

restitution in the amount of $2,433,818.00 to the Internal Revenue Service. 

The parties have agreed that funds seized from the Moors and Cabot Trust 

account shall be applied to the restitution ordered against Defendant William J. Sears. 

THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED, DECREED AND ADJUDGED: 

THAT Defendant William Sears=s interest in:  

1) $27,066.23 in United States currency seized from Wells Fargo 
Bank Account No. 6020559917, held in the name of Meadpoint 
Venture Partners; 

 
2) $9,455.56 in United States currency seized from Wells Fargo 

Bank Account No.  held in the name of Sandra L. 
Sears; 

 
3) $6,028,803.25 in United States currency seized from Moors and 

Cabot Trust Account No.  held in the name of 
Sandra Lee Sears, Tr. Sandra Lee Sears Ttee; and 

  
4) $250,000 in United States currency held in lieu of earnest 

money held on deposit for the purchase of , 
Denver, Colorado 
 

is forfeited to the United States in accordance with 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C) and 28 U.S.C. 

§ 2461(c); 

THAT Defendant William Sears’ interest in: 

a. $147,724.38 realized from the sale of  
Thornton, Colorado,  and 
 

b. Any monetary value he realizes in the future from his interest in 
FusionPharm, Inc 

 
is forfeited to the United States in accordance with 21 U.S.C. § 853(p) as substitute 
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assets. 

THAT the United States is directed to seize the property subject to forfeiture, and 

further to make its return as provided by law; 

THAT the United States Marshals Service shall remit $2,433,818.00 seized from 

the Moors and Cabot Trust Account No.  held in the name of Sandra Lee 

Sears, Tr. Sandra Lee Sears Ttee to the Clerk of the Court to be applied to the restitution 

ordered in this case. 

 THAT the United States shall publish notice of this Amended Preliminary Order 

of Forfeiture in accordance with Rule G(4)(a)(iv)(C) of the Supplemental Rules for 

Admiralty or Maritime Claims and Asset Forfeiture Actions, via a government website for 

at least thirty consecutive days, and to make its return to this Court that such action has 

been completed; 

THAT upon adjudication of all third-party interests, if any, the Court will enter a 

Final Order of Forfeiture pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C) and 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c) 

and Rule 32.2(c)(2) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, in which all interests 

will be addressed. 

THAT a Personal Money Judgment against Defendant William J. Sears in the 

amount of $1,914,049.49 in United States currency shall be entered in accordance with 

18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C) and 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c).   

THAT pursuant to Rule 32.2(b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, 

upon entry of this Amended Preliminary Order of Forfeiture, the United States Attorney’s 

Office is authorized to conduct any discovery needed to identify, locate or dispose of 
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forfeitable property, including depositions, interrogatories, requests for production of 

documents and the issuance of subpoenas, pursuant to Rule 45 of the Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure. 

 THAT pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 32.2(b)(4), this Amended 

Preliminary Order of Forfeiture shall become final as to the defendant at the time of 

sentencing and shall be made part of the sentence and included in the judgment. 

THAT the Court shall retain jurisdiction to enforce this Order and adjudicate the 

interests of all third-parties in ancillary proceedings.  Fed. R. Crim. P. 32.2(c)(1). 

THAT this Amended Preliminary Order of Forfeiture may be amended pursuant 

to Rule 32.2(e)(1) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure. 

 
Dated this 10th day of February, 2020. 
 

       BY THE COURT: 
        
 
        

_________________________ 
       William J. Martinez 
       United States District Judge 
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